EXTENDED HIGHER HERGLOTZ FUNCTIONS I. FUNCTIONAL EQUATIONS

ATUL DIXIT, RAJAT GUPTA AND RAHUL KUMAR

Dedicated to Professor Don Zagier on the occasion of his 70th birthday

ABSTRACT. In 1975, Don Zagier obtained a new version of the Kronecker limit formula for a real quadratic field which involved an interesting function F(x) which is now known as the Herglotz function. As demonstrated by Zagier, and very recently by Radchenko and Zagier, F(x) satisfies beautiful properties which are of interest in both algebraic number theory as well as in analytic number theory. In this paper, we study $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$, an extension of the Herglotz function which also subsumes higher Herglotz function of Vlasenko and Zagier. We call it the extended higher Herglotz function. It is intimately connected with a certain generalized Lambert series. We derive two different kinds of functional equations satisfied by $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$. Radchenko and Zagier gave a beautiful relation between the integral $\int_0^1 \frac{\log(1+t^x)}{1+t} \, dt$ and F(x) and used it to evaluate this integral at various rational as well as irrational arguments. We obtain a relation between $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ and a generalization of the above integral involving polylogarithm. The asymptotic expansions of $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ and some generalized Lambert series are also obtained along with other supplementary results.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Main results	5
2.1.	Functional equations for extended higher Herglotz functions $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$	6
2.3.	Asymptotics of the extended higher Herglotz functions	8
2.4.	An interesting relation between a generalized polylogarithm function and the extended	
	higher Herglotz functions	9
2.5.	Transformations involving higher Herglotz functions and generalized Lambert series	10
3.	Proofs of functional equations satisfied by $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$	12
3.1.	Proof of the equivalence of Theorems 2.1 and 2.2 for odd natural numbers k and N	
	such that $1 < k \le N$	17
3.2.	Proof of a relation between $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ and a generalized polylogarithm	20
4.	Proofs of transformations and asymptotic expansions of the extended higher Herglotz	
	functions and generalized Lambert series	21
5.	Concluding Remarks	26
Ref	erences	28

1. Introduction

The Kronecker limit formula is one of the celebrated theorems in number theory having applications not only in other areas of Mathematics such as in geometry but also in Physics, for example, in string theory for the one-loop computation in the Polyakov's perturbative approach [22]. Let

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification: Primary 30D05 Secondary 30E15, 33E20 Keywords: Herglotz function, functional equations, polylogarithm, Lambert series, asymptotic expansions.

K denote a number field and $\zeta_K(s)$ the Dedekind zeta-function of K. If A denotes an ideal class group of K, then we can write $\zeta_K(s) = \sum_A \zeta(s,A)$, where, for Re(s) > 1, $\zeta(s,A) = \sum_{a \in A} \frac{1}{N(a)^s}$, with N(a) being the norm of the fractional ideal a. Then the Kronecker limit formula is concerned with the evaluation of the constant term $\varrho(A)$ in the Laurent series expansion of $\zeta(s,A)$. This was done by Kronecker [18] in the case of an imaginary quadratic field K. While Hecke [15] obtained a corresponding formula for a real quadratic field K, it was not explicit as one of the expressions in it was left as an integral containing the Dedekind eta-function.

In a seminal paper [35], Zagier obtained an explicit form of the Kronecker limit formula for real quadratic fields. Zagier's formula gives a new representation for the value

$$\varrho(\mathcal{B}) := \lim_{s \to 1} \left(D^{s/2} \zeta(s, \mathcal{B}) - \frac{\log \epsilon}{s - 1} \right),$$

where \mathcal{B} is an element of the group of narrow ideal classes of invertible fractional \mathcal{O}_D -ideals¹ of the quadratic order $\mathcal{O}_D = \mathbb{Z} + \mathbb{Z} \frac{D + \sqrt{D}}{2}$ of discriminant D > 0, $\zeta(s, \mathcal{B})$, for Re(s) > 1, is the sum of $N(\mathfrak{a})^{-s}$ over all invertible \mathcal{O}_D -ideals \mathfrak{a} in the class \mathcal{B} , and $\epsilon = \epsilon_D$ is the smallest unit > 1 in \mathcal{O}_D of norm 1. The reason such a representation is worth studying is because the special value at s = 1 of the Dirichlet series $L_K(s,\chi) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a}} \chi(\mathfrak{a}) N(\mathfrak{a})^{-s}$ equals $D^{-1/2} \sum_{\mathcal{B}} \chi(\mathcal{B}) \varrho(\mathcal{B})$ for any character χ on the narrow ideal class group. Zagier's formula [35, p. 164] reads

$$\varrho(\mathcal{B}) = \sum_{w \in \text{Red}(\mathcal{B})} P(w, w'), \tag{1.1}$$

where the function P(x,y) for x > y > 0 is defined as

$$P(x,y) := F(x) - F(y) + \operatorname{Li}_2\left(\frac{y}{x}\right) - \frac{\pi^2}{6} + \log\left(\frac{x}{y}\right) \left(\gamma - \frac{1}{2}\log(x - y) + \frac{1}{4}\log\left(\frac{x}{y}\right)\right), \tag{1.2}$$

with $\operatorname{Red}(\mathcal{B})$ being the set of larger roots $w = (-b + \sqrt{D})/(2a)$ of all reduced primitive quadratic forms $Q(X,Y) = aX^2 + bXY + cY^2(a,c > 0, a+b+c < 0)$ of discriminant D belonging to the class \mathcal{B} . Here γ is Euler's constant, $\operatorname{Li}_2(t)$ is the dilogarithm function

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{t^n}{n^2} \quad (0 < t < 1), \tag{1.3}$$

and

$$F(x) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(nx) - \log(nx)}{n} \quad (x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]),$$
 (1.4)

where $\psi(a) = \Gamma'(a)/\Gamma(a)$ is the logarithmic derivative of the gamma function. The function F(x) is similar to a function that Herglotz studied in [16] and hence Radchenko and Zagier [26] call it the *Herglotz function*.

The Herglotz function F(x) satisfies several interesting and important properties as has been demonstrated by Zagier in [35], and very recently by Radchenko and Zagier in [26] where they study, among other things, the relation of this function with the Dedekind eta-function, functional equations satisfied by F(x) in connection with Hecke operators, the cohomological aspects of F(x), and its special values at positive rationals and quadratic units. Prior to this, Zagier [35, Equations (7.4), (7.8)] had obtained beautiful functional equations that F(x) satisfies, namely, for $x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$,

$$F(x) - F(x+1) - F\left(\frac{x}{x+1}\right) = -F(1) + \text{Li}_2\left(\frac{1}{1+x}\right),$$
 (1.5)

¹Here two ideals belong to the same narrow class if their quotient is a principal ideal $\lambda \mathcal{O}_D$ with $N(\lambda) > 0$.

$$F(x) + F\left(\frac{1}{x}\right) = 2F(1) + \frac{1}{2}\log^2(x) - \frac{\pi^2}{6x}(x-1)^2,$$
 (1.6)

where [35, Equation (7.12)]

$$F(1) = -\frac{1}{2}\gamma^2 - \frac{\pi^2}{12} - \gamma_1,$$

and γ_1 denotes the first Stieltjes constant.

Apart from their intrinsic beauty, these functional equations are very useful, for example, Zagier [35] used them to prove Meyer's theorem and Radchenko and Zagier [26] have used them to obtain asymptotic expansions of F(x) as $x \to 0$ and $x \to 1$. Functional equations of the type in (1.5) occur in a variety of areas of mathematics such as period functions for Maass forms [19, Equation (0.1)] (see also [5, Equation (1)]), cotangent functions, double zeta functions etc. We refer the reader to a beautiful article of Zagier [37] on this topic.

Several generalizations of the Herglotz function (also known sometimes as the Herglotz-Zagier function) have been studied in the literature. Ishibashi [17] studied the $j^{\rm th}$ order Herglotz function defined by

$$\Phi_j(x) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{R'_j(nx) - \log^j(nx)}{n} \qquad (j \in \mathbb{N}),$$

where $R_j(x)$ is a generalization of the function R(x) studied by Deninger [8], and is defined as the solution to the difference equation

$$f(x+1) - f(x) = \log^{j}(x), \quad (f(1) = (-1)^{j+1}\zeta^{(j)}(0)),$$

with $\zeta(s)$ denoting the Riemann zeta function. It is clear that $\Phi_1(x) = F(x)$. Ishibashi's function $\Phi_j(x)$ appears in his explicit representation [17, Theorem 3] of the Laurent series coefficients of $Z_{Q_\ell}(s)$, the zeta function associated to indefinite quadratic forms Q_ℓ , where

$$D^{s/2}\zeta(s,\mathcal{B}) = \sum_{\ell} Z_{Q_{\ell}}(s) \quad (\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1).$$

Zagier [35] had earlier obtained the constant coefficient and the coefficient of $(s-1)^{-1}$ in the Laurent series expansion of $D^{s/2}\zeta(s,\mathcal{B})$. The Herglotz function F(x) makes its conspicuous presence in Zagier's expression of the constant coefficient as can be seen from (1.1) and (1.2).

Masri [21] generalized F(x) in a different direction by considering

$$F(\alpha, s, x) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\alpha(n) \left(\psi(nx) - \log(nx) \right)}{n^s} \quad (\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0, x > 0),$$

where $\alpha : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a periodic function with period M. Vlasenko and Zagier [30] studied the following special case of Masri's $F(\alpha, s, x)$ when $\alpha(n) \equiv 1$ and s > 1 is a natural number but without considering $\log(nx)$ term (which is not needed for convergence of the series since s > 1):

$$F_k(x) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(nx)}{n^k} \quad (k \in \mathbb{N}, k > 1, x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]).$$
 (1.7)

They termed it the *higher Herglotz function*² and obtained following beautiful functional relations for it [30, Equations (11), (12)]:

$$F_k(x) + (-x)^{k-1} F_k\left(\frac{1}{x}\right) = -\gamma \zeta(k) \left(1 + (-x)^{k-1}\right) - \sum_{r=2}^{k-1} \zeta(r) \zeta(k+1-r) (-x)^{r-1}$$

²It is important to note that Vlasenko and Zagier [30] define their higher Herglotz function by $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi(nx)/n^{k-1}$ for k > 2.

$$+\zeta(k+1)\left((-x)^k - \frac{1}{x}\right),\tag{1.8}$$

 and^3

$$F_k(x) - F_k(x+1) + (-x)^{k-1} F_k\left(\frac{x+1}{x}\right) = (-x)^{k-1} \left(\zeta(k,1) + \zeta(k+1) - \gamma\zeta(k)\right)$$
$$-\sum_{r=1}^{k-1} \zeta(k+1-r,r)(-x)^{r-1} + \zeta(k+1) \left(\frac{(-x)^k}{x+1} - \frac{1}{x}\right),$$
(1.9)

where

$$\zeta(m,n) := \sum_{p>q>0} \frac{1}{p^m q^n} \quad (m \ge 2, n \ge 1).$$

The function $F_k(x)$ plays an instrumental role in the higher Kronecker "limit" formulas developed in [30].

The goal of our paper is to study a novel generalization of F(x), which we call the extended higher Herglotz function. We define it by

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(n^N x) - \log(n^N x)}{n^k} \qquad (x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]), \tag{1.10}$$

where k and N are positive real numbers such that k + N > 1. It is clear that when k > 1, one can write

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(n^N x)}{n^k} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\log(n^N x)}{n^k}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(n^N x)}{n^k} + N\zeta'(k) - \zeta(k) \log x. \tag{1.11}$$

However, we keep (1.10) as the definition of the extended higher Herglotz function so as to keep many special cases under one roof. Indeed, from (1.7) and (1.11), we have for $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,1}(x) = F_k(x) + \zeta'(k) - \zeta(k) \log x. \tag{1.12}$$

Also $\mathscr{F}_{1,1}(x)$ is the Herglotz function defined in (1.4).

We were naturally led to the idea of considering the extended higher Herglotz function in (1.10) from our previous work [9] on a generalized Lambert series. Indeed, the extended higher Herglotz function turns up after differentiating a transformation for the generalized Lambert series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2Nm-1} \exp\left(-a(2n)^N \alpha\right)}{1 - \exp\left(-(2n)^N \alpha\right)} \tag{1.13}$$

with respect to a and then letting a = 1 as can be seen from (4.8) below.

An application of our extended higher Herglotz functions is in obtaining the asymptotic expansion of the Lambert series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2Nm-1+N}}{\exp\left((2n)^N \alpha\right) - 1} \quad (N \text{ odd})$$

as $\alpha \to 0^+$ which can be seen in Theorem 2.13. Obtaining asymptotic expansions for Lambert series and its generalizations has received a lot of attention since last century because of their applications in the theory of the Riemann zeta function. For example, Wigert [32] (see also [29,

³The interpretation of $\zeta(1, k-1)$ given in [30, p. 28] has a minus sign missing in front of the whole term, that is, the correct form is $-(\zeta(k-1, 1) + \zeta(k) - \gamma \zeta(k-1))$.

p. 163, Theorem 7.15]) obtained the asymptotic expansion of $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 1/(e^{nz}-1)$ as $z\to 0$ which was used by Lukkarinen [20] to not only study the moments of the Riemann zeta function but to also obtain meromorphic continuation of the modified Mellin transform of $|\zeta(1/2+ix)|^2$ defined for Re(s) > 1 by $\int_1^{\infty} \left| \zeta\left(\frac{1}{2}+ix\right) \right|^2 x^{-s} dx$. For odd $N \in \mathbb{N}$, Wigert himself [33, p. 9-10] obtained the asymptotic expansion of the generalized Lambert series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{e^{n^N x} - 1} = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-n^N j x}.$$

as $x \to 0$. Note that the inner sum in the above double series is a generalized partial theta function. Wigert not only wrote a paper on this partial theta function [34] but also on the above generalized Lambert series [33].

Zagier [36] had conjectured that the asymptotic expansion of the Lambert series associated with the square of the Ramanujan tau function $\tau(n)$, that is of $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \tau^2(n)e^{-nx}$, as $x \to 0^+$, can be expressed in terms of the non-trivial zeros of the Riemann zeta function. This conjecture was proved by Hafner and Stopple [14]. Thus obtaining asymptotic expansions of Lambert series is a useful endeavor.

In this paper, we obtain two different kinds of functional equations satisfied by $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$. See Theorems 2.1 and 2.2. As a special case of one of these functional equations, we get (1.6) of Zagier. For x > 0, one of the beautiful identities that F(x) satisfies [26] is

$$J(x) = F(2x) - 2F(x) + F\left(\frac{x}{2}\right) + \frac{\pi^2}{12x},\tag{1.14}$$

where

$$J(x) := \int_0^1 \frac{\log(1+t^x)}{1+t} dt. \tag{1.15}$$

Radchenko and Zagier [26] have obtained special values of F(x) at positive rationals and quadratic units with the help of which they are able to evaluate special values of J(x), for example,

$$J(4+\sqrt{17}) = -\frac{\pi^2}{6} + \frac{1}{2}\log^2(2) + \frac{1}{2}\log(2)\log(4+\sqrt{17}),$$
$$J\left(\frac{2}{5}\right) = \frac{11\pi^2}{240} + \frac{3}{4}\log^2(2) - 2\log^2\left(\frac{\sqrt{5}+1}{2}\right).$$

Earlier, Herglotz [16] as well as Muzaffar and Williams [25] had evaluated such integrals but only of a particular type, that is, $J(n + \sqrt{n^2 - 1})$. For example, Herglotz [16, Equation (70a)] showed that

$$J(4+\sqrt{15}) = -\frac{\pi^2}{12}(\sqrt{15}-2) + \log(2)\log(\sqrt{3}+\sqrt{5}) + \log\left(\frac{\sqrt{5}+1}{2}\right)\log(2+\sqrt{3}).$$

Regarding this integral, Chowla [6, p. 372] remarked, 'A direct evaluation of this definite integral is probably difficult'. Indeed, these evaluations come from not only employing methods from analytic number theory but also those from algebraic number theory, which is why they are all the more interesting!

In this paper, a generalization of (1.14) involving $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ is obtained in Theorem 2.8. Lastly, we obtain some results showcasing the intimate relationship between generalized Lambert series and extended higher Herglotz functions.

2. Main results

Throughout this paper, the notation $\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)}$ will denote a sum over over $j=-(N-1),-(N-3),\cdots,N-3,N-1$.

2.1. Functional equations for extended higher Herglotz functions $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$.

Theorem 2.1. Let $k, N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $1 < k \le N$ and $x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$. Let

$$\mathscr{B}(k,N,x) := \begin{cases} (-1)^{k+N+1} x^{1/N} \zeta \left(1 + \frac{k}{N}\right) & \text{if } k = N \\ 0 & \text{if } k \neq N \end{cases} . \tag{2.1}$$

Then

$$x^{\frac{1-k}{N}} \mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) - \frac{(-1)^k}{N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {''e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N}} \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}}{x^{1/N}}\right)$$

$$= \frac{\pi}{N} \frac{\zeta\left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{N}(k-1)\right)} + x^{\frac{1-k}{N}} \left(-\left(\gamma + \log x\right)\zeta(k) + N\zeta'(k)\right) - \frac{1}{x^{\frac{N+k-1}{N}}} \zeta(k+N) + \mathscr{B}(k,N,x). \tag{2.2}$$

Also,

$$\mathscr{F}_{1,N}(x) + \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} \mathscr{F}_{1,\frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}}{x^{1/N}} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{N} \left\{ \frac{\pi^2}{6} - (N-1)\gamma \log x + \frac{1}{2} (\log x)^2 - N\gamma^2 - (N^2+1)\gamma_1 \right\} - \frac{\zeta(N+1)}{x} + \mathscr{B}(1,N,x). \quad (2.3)$$

We note that when N = 1, (2.3) gives Zagier's (1.6) as a special case.

In the next theorem, we obtain a different kind of functional equation for $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$, more specifically, for a combination of $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}$ functions. There is a trade-off between the two types of functional equations obtained in Theorems 2.1 and 2.2, namely, Theorem 2.1 is valid for any natural numbers k and N such that $1 < k \le N$ whereas Theorem 2.2 is valid for any odd natural numbers k and N. These two types are, indeed, equivalent when k and N are odd such that $1 < k \le N$. This is shown in subsection 3.1.

The idea for deriving the second type of functional equation, considered in Theorem 2.2 below, stemmed from a beautiful result obtained in [9, Theorem 2.2]. This identity, which was instrumental in deriving the main transformation for a generalized Lambert series in [9], is as follows.

Let $u \in \mathbb{C}$ be fixed such that Re(u) > 0. Then,

$$\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \int_0^{\infty} \frac{t \cos(t)}{t^2 + m^2 u^2} dt = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \log \left(\frac{u}{2\pi} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\psi \left(\frac{iu}{2\pi} \right) + \psi \left(\frac{-iu}{2\pi} \right) \right) \right\}. \tag{2.4}$$

Theorem 2.2. Let k and N be odd natural numbers. Let Re(x) > 0. Then,

$$\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} \operatorname{exp}\left(-\frac{i\pi(k-1)j}{2N}\right) \left\{ \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(-i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) \right\}$$

$$= (-1)^{\frac{k+1}{2}} N\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \left\{ \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + 2\left(\left(\gamma - \log\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)\right)\zeta(k) - N\zeta'(k)\right) + \mathscr{C}(k,N,x) \right\},$$

$$(2.5)$$

where, for $\frac{1-k}{N} \neq -2 \lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \rfloor$,

$$\mathscr{C}(k,N,x) := \frac{\pi\zeta\left(\frac{N+k-1}{N}\right)}{N\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{2N}(1-k)\right)} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{k-1}{N}} + 4\pi \sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \rfloor} (-1)^{j} (2\pi)^{-2j-1} \zeta(k-2Nj)\zeta(2j+1)x^{2j}, \tag{2.6}$$

and for $\frac{1-k}{N} = -2 \left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor$,

$$\mathscr{C}(k,N,x) := \frac{2(-1)^{\frac{k-1}{2N}}}{N} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \left[\left(\gamma + \log\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)\right) \zeta\left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N}\right) - \zeta'\left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N}\right) \right] + 4\pi \sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \rfloor - 1} (-1)^{j} (2\pi)^{-2j-1} \zeta(k - 2Nj) \zeta(2j+1) x^{2j}.$$

$$(2.7)$$

The remaining case not considered in the above theorem, namely, $\frac{1-k}{N} = -2 \left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor = 0$, that is, k = 1, is given in the following result.

Theorem 2.3. Let k and N be odd natural numbers and Re(x) > 0. Then,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {''} e^{\frac{i\pi}{2}(j-1)} \left\{ \mathscr{F}_{1,\frac{1}{N}} \left(i \left(\frac{2\pi}{x} \right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}} \right) + \mathscr{F}_{1,\frac{1}{N}} \left(-i \left(\frac{2\pi}{x} \right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}} \right) \right\} \\ &= -N \left\{ \mathscr{F}_{1,N} \left(\frac{ix}{2\pi} \right) + \mathscr{F}_{1,N} \left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi} \right) - \frac{1}{N} \left(\frac{\pi^2}{12} - 2N\gamma^2 + 2(N-1)\gamma \log \left(\frac{2\pi}{x} \right) + \log^2(2\pi) - \log \left(\frac{4\pi^2}{x} \right) \log x - 2(N^2+1)\gamma_1 \right) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Ramanujan's famous formula for $\zeta(2m+1)$ [27, p. 173, Ch. 14, Entry 21(i)], [28, pp. 319-320, formula (28)], [3, pp. 275-276] is given for $\alpha, \beta > 0$, Re(α) > 0, Re(β) > 0, $\alpha\beta = \pi^2$ and $m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, by

$$\alpha^{-m} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \zeta(2m+1) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2m-1}}{e^{2\alpha n} - 1} \right\} = (-\beta)^{-m} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \zeta(2m+1) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2m-1}}{e^{2\beta n} - 1} \right\}$$
$$- 2^{2m} \sum_{j=0}^{m+1} \frac{(-1)^{j} B_{2j} B_{2m+2-2j}}{(2j)! (2m+2-2j)!} \alpha^{m+1-j} \beta^{j}, \qquad (2.8)$$

where B_n is the n^{th} Bernoulli number. The Lambert series in (1.13) enables us to obtain a two-parameter generalization of (2.8) given in [9, Theorem 2.4]. See (4.8) below.

As a special case, Theorem 2.2 gives a beautiful transformation for a combination of the Vlasenko-Zagier higher Herglotz function $F_k(x)$ which is analogous to (2.8).

Corollary 2.4. Let α and β be two complex numbers with $\text{Re}(\alpha) > 0$, $\text{Re}(\beta) > 0$ and $\alpha\beta = 4\pi^2$. Then for $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\alpha^{-m} \left\{ 2\gamma \zeta(2m+1) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2m+1}} \left(\psi \left(\frac{in\alpha}{2\pi} \right) + \psi \left(-\frac{in\alpha}{2\pi} \right) \right) \right\}$$

$$= -(-\beta)^{-m} \left\{ 2\gamma \zeta(2m+1) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2m+1}} \left(\psi \left(\frac{in\beta}{2\pi} \right) + \psi \left(-\frac{in\beta}{2\pi} \right) \right) \right\}$$

$$-2\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} (-1)^{j} \zeta(1-2j+2m) \zeta(2j+1) \alpha^{j-m} \beta^{-j}. \tag{2.9}$$

It is important to note here that Corollary 2.4 cannot be obtained for any general α, β such that $\alpha\beta = 4\pi^2$ by applying Vlasenko and Zagier's (1.8) once with k = 2m + 1 and $x = i\alpha/(2\pi)$, and again with k = 2m + 1 and $x = i\beta/(2\pi)$, and adding the resulting two equations, for, doing so will

result in

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi\left(\frac{in\alpha}{2\pi}\right)}{n^{2m+1}} + (-\beta)^m \alpha^{-m} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi\left(-\frac{in\alpha}{2\pi}\right)}{n^{2m+1}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi\left(\frac{in\beta}{2\pi}\right)}{n^{2m+1}} + (-\alpha)^m \beta^{-m} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi\left(-\frac{in\beta}{2\pi}\right)}{n^{2m+1}}$$

$$= -\gamma \left(2 + (-\beta)^m \alpha^{-m} + (-\alpha)^m \beta^{-m}\right) \zeta(2m+1) + i\zeta(2m+2) \left(\frac{2\pi}{\beta} + \frac{2\pi}{\alpha} - \frac{(-\beta)^m \alpha^{-m}\beta}{2\pi}\right)$$

$$-\frac{(-\alpha)^m \beta^{-m}\alpha}{2\pi} - \sum_{r=2}^{2m} \zeta(r)\zeta(2m+2-r) \left(-\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^{r-1} (\alpha^{r-1} + \beta^{r-1}). \tag{2.10}$$

It is clear that it is impossible to get Corollary 2.4 from (2.10) for any α, β such that $\alpha\beta = 4\pi^2$ because of the factors of the form $(-\beta)^m\alpha^{-m}$ and $(-\alpha)^m\beta^{-m}$ in front of the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-2m-1}\psi\left(-\frac{in\alpha}{2\pi}\right)$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-2m-1}\psi\left(-\frac{in\beta}{2\pi}\right)$ respectively in (2.10) whereas we do not have such factors in Corollary 2.4.

Only in the case when $\alpha = \beta = 2\pi$ and m is replaced by 2m is Corollary 2.4 obtainable from (2.10). We state below this special case of Corollary 2.4, namely for $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{4m+1}} \left(\psi(in) + \psi(-in) \right) = -2\gamma \zeta(4m+1) - \sum_{j=1}^{2m-1} (-1)^j \zeta(2j+1)\zeta(4m+1-2j). \tag{2.11}$$

Letting m = 1 in Corollary 2.4 gives a beautiful modular relation:

Corollary 2.5. Let α and β be two complex numbers with $Re(\alpha) > 0$, $Re(\beta) > 0$ and $\alpha\beta = 4\pi^2$.

$$\frac{1}{\alpha} \left\{ 2\gamma \zeta(3) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^3} \left(\psi \left(\frac{in\alpha}{2\pi} \right) + \psi \left(\frac{-in\alpha}{2\pi} \right) \right) \right\} = \frac{1}{\beta} \left\{ 2\gamma \zeta(3) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^3} \left(\psi \left(\frac{in\beta}{2\pi} \right) + \psi \left(\frac{-in\beta}{2\pi} \right) \right) \right\}. \tag{2.12}$$

Remark 2.2. Corollary 2.4 is an analogue of Ramanujan's formula for $\zeta(2m+1)$, that is, (2.8). Indeed, the combination of Vlasenko-Zagier higher Herglotz functions in Corollary 2.4 seems to mimick the role played by the Lambert series in Ramanujan's formula.

This phenomenon is seen to be true even when we consider the generalization of Corollary 2.4 given in Theorem 2.2. Indeed, the combination of the extended higher Herglotz functions $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ in Theorem 2.2 plays a similar role as that played by the generalized Lambert series in Theorem 1.2 of [11]. The latter theorem is the special case a = 1 of (4.8).

2.3. Asymptotics of the extended higher Herglotz functions. An immediate application of the functional equations given in the above theorems is in obtaining the asymptotic expansions of the extended higher Herglotz functions $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ as $x \to 0$. These asymptotic expansions for different conditions on the parameters involved are collected together in the theorem below.

Theorem 2.6. Let $x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$ and k, N are positive real numbers such that k + N > 1. Let $\mathcal{B}(k, N, x)$ be defined in (2.1). Then as $x \to \infty$,

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) \sim -\frac{1}{2x}\zeta(k+N) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{B_{2n}}{2n}\zeta(k+2nN)x^{-2n}.$$
 (2.13)

Also, as $x \to 0$,

(i) For $k, N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $1 < k \le N$, we have

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) \sim -\frac{\zeta(k+N)}{x} - \left(\gamma + \log x\right)\zeta(k) + N\zeta'(k) + \frac{\pi}{N} \frac{\zeta\left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{N}(k-1)\right)} x^{\frac{k-1}{N}} + x^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \mathscr{B}(k,N,x)$$

$$+ (-1)^k \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{m(N+1)} \zeta(k - mN) \zeta(1 + m) x^m;$$
(2.14)

(ii) For $N \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mathscr{F}_{1,N}(x) \sim -\frac{\zeta(N+1)}{x} + \frac{1}{N} \left\{ \frac{\pi^2}{6} - (N-1)\gamma \log x + \frac{1}{2} \log^2 x - N\gamma^2 - (N^2+1)\gamma_1 \right\} + \mathscr{B}(1,N,x) - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{m(N+1)} \zeta(1-mN)\zeta(1+m) x^m.$$
(2.15)

Letting N=1 gives Radchenko and Zagier's asymptotic expansions for F(x) as $x\to\infty$ and as $x\to 0$ as can be seen from [26, Equation (7)].

Theorem 2.7. Let k and N be positive real numbers such that k+N>1 and let $\operatorname{Re}(x)>0$. Let $\mathscr{C}(k,N,x)$ be defined in (2.6) and (2.7). Then as $x\to\infty$,

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) \sim \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{n} B_{2n}\zeta(k+2nN) \left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{2n},\tag{2.16}$$

Also, for odd natural numbers k and N, as $x \to 0$

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) \\
\sim 2\left\{\left(\log\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right) - \gamma\right)\zeta(k) + N\zeta'(k)\right\} - \mathscr{C}(k,N,x) + \frac{(-1)^{\frac{N+k+2}{2}}}{N}\left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{k-1}{N}}\exp\left(-\frac{i\pi(N+k-1)}{2N}\right) \\
\times \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{B_{2n}}{n\cos\left(\frac{\pi n}{N}\right)}\zeta\left(\frac{N+k+2n-1}{N}\right)\left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{2n}{N}},$$
(2.17)

and for an odd natural number N, as $x \to 0$,

$$\mathscr{F}_{1,N}\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{1,N}\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) \sim \frac{1}{N}\left(\frac{\pi^{2}}{12} - 2N\gamma^{2} + 2(N-1)\gamma\log\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right) + \log^{2}(2\pi) - \log\left(\frac{4\pi^{2}}{x}\right)\log x - 2(N^{2}+1)\gamma_{1}\right) + \frac{i}{N}(-1)^{\frac{N+1}{2}}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{B_{2n}}{n\cos\left(\frac{\pi n}{N}\right)}\zeta\left(1 + \frac{2n}{N}\right)\left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{2n}{N}}.$$
(2.18)

2.4. An interesting relation between a generalized polylogarithm function and the extended higher Herglotz functions. The polylogarithm is a generalization of the dilogarithm function of (1.3). It is defined by

$$\operatorname{Li}_s(t) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{t^n}{n^s}.$$

It is clear that $\text{Li}_s(t)$ converges for any complex s as long as |t| < 1. It can be analytically continued for $|t| \ge 1$. There are a number of generalizations of polylogarithm in the literature.

In the following result, we encountered a new generalization of the polylogarithm function. We define it for $N \in \mathbb{N}, s \in \mathbb{C}$ and |t| < 1 by

$$_{N}\mathrm{Li}_{s}(t) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{t^{n^{N}}}{n^{s}}.$$
 (2.19)

Clearly, $_1\text{Li}_s(t) = \text{Li}_s(t)$ for |t| < 1.

Theorem 2.8. Let k and N be any positive integers. Let $_N\mathrm{Li}_s(t)$ be defined in (2.19). Define

$$J_{k,N}(x) := \int_0^1 \left(\frac{2^{k-1}}{u-1} - \frac{2^N u^{(2^N-1)}}{u^{2^N}-1} - \frac{2^{k-1}-1}{u \log u} \right) {}_{N} \text{Li}_k(-u^x) \ du.$$
 (2.20)

Then for x > 0, we have

$$J_{k,N}(x) = \mathscr{F}_{k,N}(2^N x) - \left(2^{k-1} + 2^{1-k}\right) \mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{x}{2^N}\right) + \left(2^N + 2^{-N} - 2^{k-1} - 2^{1-k}\right) \frac{\zeta(k+N)}{x}.$$
(2.21)

The integral in (2.20) is a natural generalization of (1.15) in the setting of $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ in the sense that it arises naturally while extending the Radchenko-Zagier relation between J(x) and F(x) in (1.14). Indeed, it can be easily checked that $J_{1,1}(x) = J(x)$ and that (1.14) follows by letting k = N = 1 in Theorem 2.8.

The above theorem leads to the following relation involving polylogarithm and Vlasenko and Zagier's higher Herglotz function $F_k(x)$ from (1.12), which is valid for a positive integer k > 1:

Corollary 2.9. Let x > 0 and let k > 1 be a positive integer. Let $F_k(x)$ be defined in (1.7). Then

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{2^{k-1}}{u-1} - \frac{2u}{u^{2}-1} - \frac{2^{k-1}-1}{u\log u} \right) \operatorname{Li}_{k}(-u^{x}) du$$

$$= F_{k}(2x) - \left(2^{k-1} + 2^{1-k} \right) F_{k}(x) + F_{k}\left(\frac{x}{2} \right) + \left(2 - 2^{k-1} - 2^{1-k} \right) \left(\zeta'(k) - \zeta(k) \log x + \frac{1}{x} \zeta(k+1) \right) + \frac{1}{2x} \zeta(k+1).$$

For k odd, Corollary 2.9, in turn, gives an evaluation of an integral involving polylogarithm function in terms of the higher Herglotz function $F_k(2)$, special values of the Riemann zeta function and its derivatives as stated below.

Corollary 2.10. Let k > 1 be an odd positive integer. Let $F_k(x)$ be defined in (1.7). Then

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{2^{k-1}}{u-1} - \frac{2u}{u^{2}-1} - \frac{2^{k-1}-1}{u\log u} \right) \operatorname{Li}_{k}(-u) du$$

$$= \left(1 - 2^{1-k} \right) F_{k}(2) + (2^{k-1}-1)\gamma \zeta(k) + \left(\frac{1}{2} - 2^{-k} \right) \zeta(k+1) + \left(2 - 2^{k-1} - 2^{1-k} \right) \zeta'(k)$$

$$+ \sum_{r=2}^{k-1} (-1)^{r-1} \left(2^{k-2} + 2^{-k} - 2^{r-k} \right) \zeta(r) \zeta(k+1-r). \tag{2.22}$$

2.5. Transformations involving higher Herglotz functions and generalized Lambert series. In [10, Corollary 2.13], the following companion of Ramanujan's formula (2.8) was obtained. Let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. If α and β are complex numbers such that $\text{Re}(\alpha) > 0$, $\text{Re}(\beta) > 0$, and $\alpha\beta = \pi^2$, then

$$\alpha^{-(m-\frac{1}{2})} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \zeta(2m) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2m}}{e^{2n\alpha} - 1} \right\} - \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{2^{2j-1} B_{2j}}{(2j)!} \zeta(2m - 2j + 1) \alpha^{2j-m-\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= (-1)^{m+1} \beta^{-(m-\frac{1}{2})} \left\{ \frac{\gamma}{\pi} \zeta(2m) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-2m} \left(\psi \left(\frac{in\beta}{\pi} \right) + \psi \left(-\frac{in\beta}{\pi} \right) \right) \right\}. \tag{2.23}$$

In what follows, we give a one-parameter extension of (2.23).

Theorem 2.11. Let N be an odd positive integer. For $\alpha\beta^N = \pi^{N+1}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(\alpha) > 0$, $\operatorname{Re}(\beta) > 0$, and $m \ge 1$,

$$\alpha^{-\left(\frac{2Nm}{N+1} - \frac{1}{2}\right)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \zeta(2Nm + 1 - N) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2Nm - 1 + N}}{e^{(2n)^N \alpha} - 1} \right)$$

$$- \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{B_{2j} \zeta(2Nm + 1 - 2Nj)}{(2j)!} 2^{N(2j-1)} \alpha^{2j - \frac{2Nm}{N+1} - \frac{1}{2}}$$

$$= \frac{2^{2m(N-1)}}{N\pi^{\frac{N+1}{2}}} (-1)^{m+1} \beta^{-\left(\frac{2Nm}{N+1} - \frac{N}{2}\right)} \left[\frac{N\gamma}{2^{N-1}} \zeta(2m) \right]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2^N} \sum_{j=-\frac{(N-1)}{2}}^{\frac{(N-1)}{2}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2m}} \left(\psi\left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{1/N} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + \psi\left(-\frac{i\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{1/N} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) \right) \right]. \quad (2.24)$$

It is straightforward to see that letting N=1 in the above theorem gives (2.23).

Theorem 2.12. Let N be an odd positive integer. If $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that $\alpha \beta^N = \pi^{N+1}$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{N-1}}{\exp((2n)^{N}\alpha) - 1} - \frac{1}{2^{N}\alpha N} \left(N\gamma - \log(2\pi) - (N-1)(\log 2 - \gamma)\right)
= \frac{1}{2^{N}\alpha(N+1)} \log\left(\frac{\alpha}{\beta}\right) + \frac{2}{2^{N}\alpha N} \sum_{j=-\left(\frac{N-1}{2}\right)}^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[\log\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left\{\psi\left(i\frac{\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + \psi\left(-i\frac{\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)\right\}\right] + \begin{cases} \frac{\alpha}{2}, & \text{if, } N=1\\ 0, & \text{if, } N>1. \end{cases}$$
(2.25)

As an application of the asymptotic expansions derived in Theorem 2.7, we obtain the complete asymptotic expansions for the Lambert series with the help of Theorem 2.11 above.

Theorem 2.13. Let N be an odd positive integer and let $m \geq 1$. As $\alpha \to 0$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2Nm-1+N}}{e^{(2n)^N\alpha} - 1} \sim \frac{1}{2^N\alpha} \zeta(2Nm+1) - \frac{1}{2} \zeta(2Nm+1-N) + \frac{(-1)^{m+1}}{N\pi^{2m}} 2^{(2m-1)(N-1)} \alpha^{2m-1}$$

$$\times \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{\ell+1} B_{2\ell N}}{\ell} \zeta(2m+2\ell) \left(\frac{2^{N-1}\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2\ell} + \mathcal{D}_N(m,\alpha), \tag{2.26}$$

where

$$\mathcal{D}_{N}(m,\alpha) := \frac{2^{(2m-1)(N-1)}}{N\pi^{2m}} (-1)^{m+1} \alpha^{2m-1} \left\{ \zeta(2m) \left(N\gamma - \log \left(\frac{\alpha 2^{N-1}}{\pi} \right) \right) - \zeta'(2m) \right\} + \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \frac{B_{2j} \zeta(2Nm + 1 - 2Nj)}{(2j)!} 2^{N(2j-1)} \alpha^{2j-1}.$$

Also, in particular, as $\alpha \to 0$,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2m}}{e^{2n\alpha} - 1} \sim \frac{\zeta(2m+1)}{2\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}\zeta(2m) + \frac{(-1)^{m+1}\alpha^{2m-1}}{\pi^{2m}} \left\{ \zeta(2m) \left(\gamma - \log\left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right) \right) - \zeta'(2m) \right\} + \frac{(-1)^{m+1}\alpha^{2m-1}}{\pi^{2m}} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{\ell+1}B_{2\ell}}{\ell} \zeta(2m+2\ell) \left(\frac{\alpha}{\pi}\right)^{2\ell}$$

$$+\sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \frac{B_{2j} \zeta(2m+1-2j)}{(2j)!} (2\alpha)^{(2j-1)}.$$
 (2.27)

We note in passing that the well-known result [12, p. 903, Formula **8.361.8**], for Re(x) > 0, namely

$$\psi(x) - \log x = -\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{-t}} - \frac{1}{t}\right) e^{-xt} dt,$$

gives an integral representation for $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) = -\int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{-t}} - \frac{1}{t}\right) N \operatorname{Li}_k\left(e^{-xt}\right) dt, \tag{2.28}$$

where $_N \text{Li}_k(t)$ is defined in (2.19), whereas Binet's formula [31, p. 251] for Re(x) > 0, namely

$$\psi(x) + \frac{1}{2x} - \log x = -\int_0^\infty \frac{2t}{(t^2 + x^2)(e^{2\pi t} - 1)} dt,$$

yields a representation for $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ in terms of a generalized Lambert series for $\operatorname{Re}(x) > 0$:

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) = -\int_0^\infty \left(\sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{n^{-k}}{\exp(2\pi n^N t) - 1} \right) \frac{2t}{t^2 + x^2} dt - \frac{1}{2x} \zeta(k + N).$$

3. Proofs of functional equations satisfied by $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$

Proof of Theorem 2.1. Employing the well-known functional equation

$$\psi(x+1) = \psi(x) + \frac{1}{x} \tag{3.1}$$

in the definition of $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ in (1.10), we get

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi(n^N x + 1) - \log(n^N x)}{n^k} - \frac{1}{x} \zeta(k+N).$$
 (3.2)

We need the following formula due to Kloosterman [29, Equation 2.9.2], which is valid in 0 < c = Re(z) < 1 and $x \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$:

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c)} \frac{-\pi \zeta(1-z)}{\sin(\pi z)} x^{-z} dz = \psi(x+1) - \log x, \tag{3.3}$$

where here and in the sequel, $\int_{(c)}$ denotes the line integral $\int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty}$.

Thus, invoking (3.3) in (3.2), we get for 0 < c = Re(z) < 1,

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^k} \int_{(c)} \frac{-\pi \zeta(1-z)}{\sin(\pi z)} (n^N x)^{-z} dz - \frac{1}{x} \zeta(k+N)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c)} \frac{-\pi \zeta(1-z)\zeta(k+Nz)}{\sin(\pi z)} x^{-z} dz - \frac{1}{x} \zeta(k+N),$$

by interchanging the order of summation and integration. Employing the change of variable $z = -\frac{s}{N} - \frac{k-1}{N}$ in the above equation, we see that for -N - k + 1 < c' = Re(s) < 1 - k,

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) = \frac{1}{N} x^{\frac{k-1}{N}} I - \frac{1}{x} \zeta(k+N), \tag{3.4}$$

where.

$$I = I(k, N, x) := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c')} \frac{\pi \zeta \left(1 + \frac{s+k-1}{N}\right) \zeta(1-s)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{N}(s+k-1)\right)} x^{\frac{s}{N}} ds.$$

Now construct a rectangular contour formed by the line segments [c'-iT,c'+iT], [c'+iT,c''+iT], [c''+iT,c''-iT], [c''+iT,c''-iT] where 0 < c'' < N-k+1. Since we wish to employ (3.3) again after shifting the line of integration from Re(s) = c' to Re(s) = c'', we also need 0 < c'' < 1. In any case, we must have N-k+1>0, or, in other words, $k \le N$. Note that in the process of shifting the line of integration, we encounter a double pole of the integrand at s=1-k and a simple pole at s=0.

Here, and throughout the paper, R_a denotes the residue of the associated integrand at its pole at a. Stirling's formula in the vertical strip $p \le \sigma \le q$ reads [7, p. 224]

$$|\Gamma(s)| = \sqrt{2\pi} |t|^{\sigma - \frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\pi|t|} \left(1 + O\left(\frac{1}{|t|}\right)\right)$$
 (3.5)

as $|t| \to \infty$.

Then letting $T \to \infty$, noting that the integrals over the horizontal segments thereby go to zero (due to (3.5)) and employing Cauchy's residue theorem, we have

$$I = I_1 - (R_0 + R_{1-k}), (3.6)$$

where

$$I_1 = I_1(k, N, x) := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c'')} \frac{\pi \zeta \left(1 + \frac{s+k-1}{N}\right) \zeta(1-s)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{N}(s+k-1)\right)} x^{\frac{s}{N}} ds,$$

and the residues R_0 and R_{1-k} are easily seen to be

$$R_0 = -\pi \frac{\zeta \left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{N}(k-1)\right)},\tag{3.7}$$

$$R_{1-k} = -Nx^{\frac{1-k}{N}} \left(-(\gamma + \log x) \zeta(k) + N\zeta'(k) \right). \tag{3.8}$$

To evaluate I_1 , we use the following well known result [9, Lemma 4.3]

$$\frac{1}{\sin(z)} = \frac{1}{\sin(Nz)} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {''} e^{ijz}$$
(3.9)

with $z = \pi(s + k - 1)/N$ so as to obtain

$$I_{1} = \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c'')} \frac{\pi \zeta(1-s)\zeta\left(1+\frac{s+k-1}{N}\right)}{\sin\left(\pi(s+k-1)\right)} \left(\frac{e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}}{x^{1/N}}\right)^{-s} ds$$

$$= (-1)^{k} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{1+\frac{k-1}{N}}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c'')} \frac{-\pi \zeta(1-s)}{\sin\left(\pi s\right)} \left(\left(\frac{n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)^{-s} ds, \quad (3.10)$$

where in the last step we used the series representation of $\zeta\left(1+\frac{s+k-1}{N}\right)$ since $k\geq 1$ and c''>0 and interchanged the order of summation and integration which can be easily justified by standard arguments. Now invoke (3.3) again in (3.10) to obtain

$$I_{1} = (-1)^{k} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}^{"}e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{1+\frac{k-1}{N}}} \left\{ \psi\left(\left(\frac{n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}} + 1\right) - \log\left(\left(\frac{n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) \right\}$$

$$= (-1)^{k} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}^{"}e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{1+\frac{k-1}{N}}} \left\{ \psi\left(\left(\frac{n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) - \log\left(\left(\frac{n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) \right\}$$

$$+ (-1)^{k} x^{1/N} \zeta\left(1 + \frac{k}{N}\right) \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}^{"}e^{i\pi jk/N}, \tag{3.11}$$

where we used (3.1) in the last step. From (3.9) and the fact that $1 < k \le N$, we have

$$\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi jk/N} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{N+1}N & \text{if } k = N\\ 0 & \text{if } 1 < k < N. \end{cases}$$
 (3.12)

Using (3.12) in (3.11) and recalling the definition of (1.10), we see that

$$I_{1} = (-1)^{k} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N} \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N}, \frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}}{x^{1/N}} \right) + N\mathscr{B}(k, N, x), \tag{3.13}$$

where $\mathcal{B}(k, N, x)$ is defined in (2.1). Substituting (3.7), (3.8) and (3.13) in (3.6), we see that

$$I = (-1)^{k} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {''e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N}} \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}}{x^{1/N}} \right) + N\mathscr{B}(k,N,x) + \pi \frac{\zeta \left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N} \right)}{\sin \left(\frac{\pi}{N}(k-1) \right)} + Nx^{\frac{1-k}{N}} \left(-(\gamma + \log x) \zeta(k) + N\zeta'(k) \right).$$
(3.14)

The proof now follows from substituting (3.14) in (3.4) and multiplying both sides of the resulting equation by $x^{\frac{1-k}{N}}$.

Equation (2.3) can be similarly proved. The only difference is that k=1 renders the pole at s=0 of the integrand of to be a pole of order 3 because of which the residue at it has to be modified accordingly.

Proof of Theorem 2.2. The fact that k and N are odd is used several times in the proof without mention.

Case 1: $\frac{1-k}{N} \neq -2 \left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor$. Let J denote the left-hand side of (2.5). Using (1.10), we rewrite J in the form

$$J = -2 \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {''i} i^{j} \exp\left(-\frac{i\pi(k+N-1)j}{2N}\right) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} \left\{ \log\left(\left(\frac{2\pi n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left[\psi\left(i\left(\frac{2\pi n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) + \psi\left(-i\left(\frac{2\pi n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right)\right] \right\}.$$
(3.15)

Define

$$X_{\ell,n} := 2\pi\ell \left(\frac{2\pi n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} \tag{3.16}$$

$$X_{\ell,n,j}^* := 2\pi \ell \left(\frac{2\pi n}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}} = X_{\ell,n} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}$$
(3.17)

Employing (2.4) in (3.15), we observe that

$$J = -4 \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} i^{j} \exp\left(-\frac{i\pi(k+N-1)j}{2N}\right) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{t \cos t}{t^{2} + X_{\ell,n,j}^{*}^{2}} dt$$

$$= -4 \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} i^{j} \exp\left(-\frac{i\pi(k+N-1)j}{2N}\right) \frac{\pi}{2} \sum_{n,\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c_{1})} \frac{\Gamma(s_{1})}{\tan\left(\frac{\pi s_{1}}{2}\right)} \left(X_{\ell,n,j}^{*}\right)^{-s_{1}} ds_{1},$$

$$(3.18)$$

where $1 < c_1 := \text{Re}(s_1) < 2$. The last step follows from the following result [9, Lemma 4.1]

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c_1)} \frac{\Gamma(s_1)}{\tan(\frac{\pi s_1}{2})} u^{-s_1} ds_1 = \frac{2}{\pi} \int_0^\infty \frac{t \cos t}{u^2 + t^2} dt, \tag{3.19}$$

which is valid for $0 < \text{Re}(s_1) = c_1 < 2$ and $\text{Re}(u) > 0^4$.

From (3.16), (3.17) and (3.18) and interchanging the order of summation and integration, we have

$$J = \frac{-1}{i} \sum_{n,\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} \int_{(c_1)} \frac{\Gamma(s_1)}{\tan\left(\frac{\pi s_1}{2}\right)} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} i^j \exp\left(-\frac{i\pi j}{2N}(s_1 + k + N - 1)\right) X_{\ell,n}^{-s_1} ds_1. \quad (3.20)$$

From [9, Equation (4.2)], for N odd,

$$\frac{\cos(Nz)}{\cos(z)} = (-1)^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {''i}^{j} \exp(-ijz).$$
 (3.21)

Using (3.21) with $z = \pi(s_1 + k + N - 1)/(2N)$ in (3.20), we observe that

$$J = \frac{-1}{i} \sum_{n,\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} \int_{(c_1)} \frac{\Gamma(s_1)}{\tan\left(\frac{\pi s_1}{2}\right)} (-1)^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \frac{\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{2}(s_1+k+N-1)\right)}{\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\left(\frac{s_1+k+N-1}{N}\right)\right)} X_{\ell,n}^{-s_1} ds_1$$
$$= \frac{(-1)^{\frac{k-1}{2}}}{2i} \sum_{n,\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} \int_{(c_1)} \frac{\Gamma(s_1)\cos\left(\frac{\pi s_1}{2}\right)}{\cos\left(\frac{\pi}{2}\left(\frac{s_1+k+N-1}{N}\right)\right)} X_{\ell,n}^{-s_1} ds_1.$$

Performing the change of variable $s_1 = Ns - k - N + 1$ in the above equation, we see that for $\frac{k+N}{N} < c < \frac{k+N+1}{N}$,

$$J = -\frac{(-1)^{\frac{N+1}{2}}N}{i} \sum_{n,\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} \int_{(c_1)} \frac{\Gamma(Ns-k-N+1)\sin\left(\frac{\pi Ns}{2}\right)}{\cos\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)} X_{\ell,n}^{-Ns+k+N-1} ds$$

$$= \frac{-N}{i} (-1)^{\frac{N+1}{2}} \left(2\pi \left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} \right)^{k+N-1}$$

$$\times \int_{(c)} \frac{\Gamma(Ns-k-N+1)\sin\left(\frac{\pi Ns}{2}\right)}{\cos\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)} \zeta(s) \zeta(Ns-k-N+1) \left(2\pi \left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} \right)^{-Ns} ds, \quad (3.22)$$

where in the last step, we used the definition of $X_{\ell,n}$ in (3.16) and the series representations for $\zeta(s)$ and $\zeta(Ns-k-N+1)$.

Now use the asymmetric form of the functional equation for $\zeta(s)$ [29, p. 13, Equation (2.1.1)], namely,

$$\zeta(s) = 2^s \pi^{s-1} \Gamma(1-s) \zeta(1-s) \sin\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right), \tag{3.23}$$

in (3.22) to deduce that

$$J = \frac{-N}{2\pi i} (-1)^{\frac{k+1}{2}} \left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}} \int_{(c)} \zeta(k+N-Ns) \tan\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \Gamma(1-s) \zeta(1-s) x^{s} ds.$$
 (3.24)

⁴We take $1 < c_1 = \text{Re}(s_1) < 2$ in the integral in (3.18) and not $0 < c_1 = \text{Re}(s_1) < 2$ so that we are able to use the series representation of $\zeta(s)$ while evaluating the integral in (3.22)

If we replace s by 1-s in the above equation then for $-\frac{k+1}{N} < c_2 < -\frac{k}{N}$, we get

$$J = \frac{-N}{2\pi i} (-1)^{\frac{k+1}{2}} \left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}} \int_{(c_2)} \zeta(k+Ns) \frac{\cos\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)} \Gamma(s) \zeta(s) x^{1-s} \ ds. \tag{3.25}$$

We wish to use the series representation for $\zeta(s)$ in (3.25) for which we transform it by shifting the line of integration to 1 < d = Re(s) < 2. Consider the contour formed by the lines $[c_2 - iT, c_2 + iT]$, $[c_2 + iT, d + iT]$, [d + iT, d - iT] and $[d - iT, c_2 - iT]$. Note that inside this contour the integrand has

- (1) a simple pole at $s = \frac{1-k}{N}$ (due to $\zeta(k+Ns)$);
- (2) a double order pole at s = 0 (due to $\sin\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)$ and $\Gamma(s)$);
- (3) simple poles at s = -2j due to the zeros of $\sin\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)$, $1 \le j \le \left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor$ (because $-2j \ge -\frac{k}{N}$ which implies that $j \le \left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor$). This is because the poles of $\Gamma(s)$ at s = -j, $1 \le j \le \frac{k}{N}$ are canceled by the zeros of $\zeta(s)$ and $\cos\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)$ at negative even and odd integers respectively.

Note that using (3.5), one can see that the integrals over the horizontal segments of the contour tend to zero as the height $T \to \infty$. Therefore invoking Cauchy's theorem, we deduce that

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c_2)} \zeta(k+Ns) \cot\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \Gamma(s)\zeta(s)x^{1-s} ds$$

$$= -R_0 - R_{\frac{1-k}{N}} - \sum_{j=1}^{\left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor} R_{-2j} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(d)} \zeta(k+Ns) \cot\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \Gamma(s)\zeta(s)x^{1-s} ds. \tag{3.26}$$

The residues in (3.26) are calculated to be

$$R_{0} = \frac{x}{\pi} \left\{ \left(\gamma - \log \left(\frac{2\pi}{x} \right) \right) \zeta(k) - N\zeta'(k) \right\},$$

$$R_{-2j} = 2(-1)^{j} (2\pi)^{-2j-1} \zeta(k - 2Nj) \zeta(1 + 2j) x^{1+2j},$$

$$R_{\frac{1-k}{N}} = \frac{\pi}{N} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi} \right)^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}} \frac{\zeta\left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N} \right)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{2} \left(\frac{1-k}{N} \right) \right)}.$$
(3.27)

Also, the integral on the right-hand side of (3.26) is evaluated to

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(d)} \zeta(k+Ns) \cot\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \Gamma(s) \zeta(s) x^{1-s} ds$$

$$= x \sum_{n,\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\ell^k} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(d)} \frac{\Gamma(s)}{\tan\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)} (x\ell^N n)^{-s} ds$$

$$= \frac{2x}{\pi} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\ell^k} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_0^{\infty} \frac{t \cos t}{(t^2 + (x\ell^N n)^2)} dt$$

$$= \frac{x}{\pi} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\ell^k} \left\{ \log\left(\frac{\ell^N x}{2\pi}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\psi\left(\frac{i\ell^N x}{2\pi}\right) + \left(\frac{-i\ell^N x}{2\pi}\right)\right) \right\}, \tag{3.28}$$

where in the second step we used (3.19) and in the last step used (2.4).

Now substitute (3.27) and (3.28) in (3.26) so as to derive

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c)} \zeta(k+Ns) \cot\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \Gamma(s) \zeta(s) x^{1-s} ds$$

$$= \frac{x}{\pi} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\ell^k} \left\{ \log\left(\frac{\ell^N x}{2\pi}\right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\psi\left(\frac{i\ell^N x}{2\pi}\right) + \left(\frac{-i\ell^N x}{2\pi}\right)\right) \right\}$$

$$-\frac{x}{\pi} \left\{ \left(\gamma - \log \left(\frac{2\pi}{x} \right) \right) \zeta(k) - N\zeta'(k) \right\}$$

$$-2 \sum_{j=1}^{\left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor} (-1)^{j} (2\pi)^{-2j-1} \zeta(k-2Nj) \zeta(1+2j) x^{1+2j}$$

$$-\frac{\pi}{N} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi} \right)^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}} \sec \left(\frac{\pi}{2} \left(\frac{k+N-1}{N} \right) \right) \zeta\left(\frac{k+N-1}{N} \right). \tag{3.29}$$

Finally substitute (3.29) in (3.25) and use the definitions of $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ and $\mathscr{C}(k,N,x)$ from (1.10) and (2.6) respectively to arrive at (2.5).

Case 2:
$$\frac{1-k}{N} = -2 \left| \frac{k}{2N} \right| \neq 0$$
.

Case 2: $\frac{1-k}{N} = -2 \left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor \neq 0$. The only change in this case is the contribution of the double order pole of the integrand in (3.25) at s=(1-k)/N due to $\zeta(k+Ns)$ and $\sin\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right)$. Due to this, the residue at (1-k)/N of the integrand of the integral on the left-hand side of (3.26) now becomes

$$\frac{2(-1)^{\frac{k-1}{2N}}}{N} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{N+k-1}{N}} \left[\left(\gamma + \log\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)\right) \zeta\left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N}\right) - \zeta'\left(1 + \frac{k-1}{N}\right) \right].$$

3.1. Proof of the equivalence of Theorems 2.1 and 2.2 for odd natural numbers k and N such that $1 < k \le N$. Assume k and N to be odd positive integers such that $1 < k \le N$. Employing (2.2) once, with x replaced by $\frac{ix}{2\pi}$ and then again with x replaced by $-\frac{ix}{2\pi}$, and then adding the resulting two equations, we arrive at

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) = \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \left\{E_1 + E_2 + E_3\right\} + E_4,\tag{3.30}$$

where

$$E_{1} := \frac{2\pi}{N} \frac{\zeta\left(\frac{N+k-1}{N}\right)}{\sin\left(\frac{\pi(k-1)}{N}\right)} \cos\left(\frac{\pi}{2N}(k-1)\right)$$

$$E_{2} := i^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \mathscr{B}\left(k, N, \frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + (-i)^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \mathscr{B}\left(k, N, -\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right)$$

$$E_{3} := \frac{(-1)^{k}}{N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {''e^{\frac{i\pi j(k-1)}{N}}} \left[i^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \mathscr{F}_{\frac{k+N-1}{N}, \frac{1}{N}}\left(\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + (-i)^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \mathscr{F}_{\frac{k+N-1}{N}, \frac{1}{N}}\left(\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)\right]$$

$$E_{4} := -2\gamma\zeta(k) + 2N\zeta'(k) - \zeta(k) \left(\log\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + \log\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right)\right).$$

$$(3.31)$$

Using the definition of $\mathcal{B}(k, N, x)$ from (2.1), it is easy to see that $E_2 = 0$ for 1 < k < N, and that for k = N,

$$E_2 = 2(-1)^{k+N+1} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} \zeta\left(1 + \frac{k}{N}\right) \cos\left(\frac{\pi k}{2N}\right).$$

Since the cosine function vanishes for k = N, we conclude that $E_2 = 0$ in this case as well. Hence

$$E_2 = 0 \text{ for } 1 < k \le N.$$
 (3.34)

We next simplify E_3 . To that end, use the definition of $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ from (1.10) in (3.32) so that

$$E_{3} = \frac{(-1)^{k}}{N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {"e^{\frac{i\pi j(k-1)}{N}}} \left[i^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi\left(\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi n}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) - \log\left(\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi n}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} + (-i)^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\psi\left(\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi n}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) - \log\left(\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi n}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)}{n^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}}} \right].$$

Now write both the digamma functions in the above equation in the form $\psi(x) = \psi(x+1) - 1/x$ by using the functional equation (3.1) and then use Kloosterman's formula (3.3) twice in the above equation so as to get, for 0 < c = Re(s) < 1,

$$E_{3} = \frac{(-1)^{k}}{N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {}^{"}e^{\frac{i\pi j(k-1)}{N}} \left[-\left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}} \left(e^{\frac{i\pi k}{2N}} + e^{-\frac{i\pi k}{2N}}\right) \zeta \left(1 + \frac{k}{N}\right) \right.$$

$$\left. + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c)} \frac{-\pi \zeta (1-s)}{\sin(\pi s)} \left(\left(\frac{x}{2\pi n}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)^{-s} \left(i^{\frac{s+k-1}{N}} + (-i)^{\frac{s+k-1}{N}}\right) ds \right]$$

$$= \frac{2(-1)^{k+1}}{N} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} \cos\left(\frac{\pi k}{2N}\right) \zeta \left(1 + \frac{k}{N}\right) \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {}^{"}e^{\frac{i\pi jk}{N}} + \frac{2(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {}^{"}e^{\frac{i\pi j(k-1)}{N}} \right.$$

$$\times \int_{(c)} \frac{-\pi \zeta (1-s)}{\sin(\pi s)} \zeta \left(\frac{s+k+N-1}{N}\right) \cos\left(\frac{\pi (s+k-1)}{2N}\right) \left(\left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)^{-s} ds. \quad (3.35)$$

We now use (3.9) in (3.35) and employ the change of variable $s = s_1 - (k + N - 1)$ in the integral on the right-hand side of (3.35) to arrive at, for $k + N - 1 < \lambda = \text{Re}(s_1) < k + N$,

$$E_{3} = \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{N} \left(\frac{x}{\pi}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} \zeta \left(1 + \frac{k}{N}\right) \frac{\sin(\pi k)}{\sin(\frac{\pi k}{2N})} + \frac{2(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i N} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{(k+N-1)}{N}} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} e^{-i\pi j} \times \int_{(\lambda)} \frac{\pi \zeta (k+N-s_{1})}{(-1)^{k+N} \sin(\pi s_{1})} \zeta \left(\frac{s_{1}}{N}\right) \sin\left(\frac{\pi s_{1}}{2N}\right) \left(\left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)^{-s} ds_{1}.$$

Note that the first term on the right-hand side of the above equation vanishes as the sine function is zero since k is an integer. Also as k and N are odd positive integers therefore $(-1)^{k+N} = 1$ and j runs over even integers hence we have $e^{-i\pi j} = 1$. Therefore E_3 reduces to

$$E_{3} = 2\frac{(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i N} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{(k+N-1)}{N}} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {''} \int_{(\lambda)} \frac{\pi \zeta(k+N-s_{1})}{\sin(\pi s_{1})} \zeta\left(\frac{s_{1}}{N}\right) \sin\left(\frac{\pi s_{1}}{2N}\right) \times \left(\left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{1}{N}} e^{-\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)^{-s_{1}} ds_{1}.$$
(3.36)

Employing the change of variable $s_1 = Ns$ in the integral in (3.36), we have, for $\frac{k+N-1}{N} < \lambda^* = \text{Re}(s) < \frac{k+N}{N}$,

$$E_{3} = \frac{2(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{(k+N-1)}{N}} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} \int_{(\lambda^{*})} \frac{\pi\zeta(k+N-Ns)}{\sin(\pi Ns)} \zeta(s) \sin\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \left(\frac{xe^{i\pi j}}{2\pi}\right)^{s} ds$$

$$= \frac{2(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{(k+N-1)}{N}} \int_{(\lambda^{*})} \frac{\zeta(k+N-Ns)}{\sin(\pi Ns)} \sin^{2}\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \Gamma(1-s) \zeta(1-s) x^{s} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} \int_{(\lambda^{*})} \frac{\zeta(k+N-Ns)}{\sin(\pi Ns)} \sin^{2}\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) \Gamma(1-s) \zeta(1-s) x^{s} \int_{(\lambda^{*})} \frac{(\pi^{*})^{2}}{\sin(\pi^{*})^{2}} ds,$$
(3.37)

where in the last step we used (3.23). Now use (3.9) in (3.37) to obtain

$$E_{3} = \frac{(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{(k+N-1)}{N}} \int_{(\lambda^{*})} \zeta(k+N-Ns)\Gamma(1-s)\zeta(1-s) \tan\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) x^{s} ds.$$
 (3.38)

From (3.15) and (3.24), for $\frac{k+N}{N} < c < \frac{k+N+1}{N}$, we have

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{(c)} \zeta(k+N-Ns) \Gamma(1-s) \zeta(1-s) \tan\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) x^{s} ds$$

$$= \frac{-(-1)^{\frac{k+1}{2}}}{N} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{k+N-1}{N}} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} e^{-\frac{i\pi(k-1)j}{2N}} \left\{ \mathscr{F}_{\frac{k+N-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{\frac{k+N-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(-i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) \right\}.$$
(3.39)

We want to employ (3.39) in (3.38), for which, we need to shift the line of integration of (3.38) to $\frac{k+N}{N} < c < \frac{k+N+1}{N}$. Consider the contour formed by the line segments $[\lambda^* - iT, c - iT]$, [c - iT, c + iT], $[c + iT, \lambda^* + iT]$ and $[\lambda^* + iT, \lambda^* - iT]$. Note that the integrand has no poles inside this contour. The condition $1 < k \le N$ implies $-1 \le 1 - \frac{k+N}{N} < \frac{-1}{N}$, ensures that the pole of the integrand of the left-hand side of (3.39) at $s = \frac{k+N}{N}$ does not lie inside the contour. Due to the same reason, $\zeta(1-s)$ also does not have a pole inside the contour. Therefore applying Cauchy's residue theorem to the integral in (3.38) and using the fact that the integral along the horizontal segments go to zero as the height T of the contour tends to ∞ , for $\frac{k+N}{N} < c < \frac{k+N+1}{N}$, we see that

$$E_{3} = \frac{(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i} \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{-\frac{(k+N-1)}{N}} \int_{(c)} \zeta(k+N-Ns)\Gamma(1-s)\zeta(1-s) \tan\left(\frac{\pi s}{2}\right) x^{s} ds$$

$$= \frac{(-1)^{\frac{k+1}{2}}}{N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {''} e^{-\frac{i\pi(k-1)j}{2N}} \left\{ \mathscr{F}_{\frac{k+N-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{\frac{k+N-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(-i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) \right\},$$
(3.40)

where in the last step we used (3.39).

Note that k and N odd and $1 < k \le N$ imply that $\frac{1-k}{N} \ne -2 \left\lfloor \frac{k}{2N} \right\rfloor$, which, in turn, implies that the finite sum in (2.6) is empty. Therefore, the equivalence of Theorems 2.1 and 2.2 follows upon substituting (3.31), (3.33), (3.34) and (3.40) in (3.30) to arrive at (2.5).

Proof of Theorem 2.3. Let k = 1 in (3.25). The proof is almost similar to that of Theorem 2.2 except that the pole of the integrand in (3.25) at 0 is of order three whence the corresponding

residue becomes

$$R_0 = \frac{-x}{2N\pi} \left\{ -2\gamma^2 N + \frac{\pi^2}{12} + 2\gamma(N-1)\log\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right) + \log^2(2\pi) - \log\left(\frac{4\pi^2}{x}\right)\log(x) - 2(N^2+1)\gamma_1 \right\}.$$

Proof of Corollary 2.4. Let $N=1, k=2m+1, m\geq 1$, in Theorem 2.2 and use the definition of $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ in (1.10). Let $\alpha=x$ and $\beta=4\pi^2/\alpha$. Since $m\geq 1$, we can separate the expressions involving logarithm. This results in a lot of simplification thereby resulting in (2.9).

Proof of Corollary 2.5. Let m=1 in Corollary 2.4 and notice that the finite sum on the right-hand side vanishes thereby giving (2.12).

3.2. Proof of a relation between $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ and a generalized polylogarithm.

Proof of Theorem 2.8. Employing (2.28) and repeatedly using the fact $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(2n) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 + (-1)^n) a(n)$, we see that

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{F}_{k,N}(2^{N}x) - \left(2^{k-1} + 2^{1-k}\right) \mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{x}{2^{N}}\right) \\ &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{-t}} - \frac{1}{t}\right) \left[\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-(2n)^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} - \left(2^{k-1} + 2^{1-k}\right) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-n^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-(n/2)^{N}xt}}{n^{k}}\right] dt \\ &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{-t}} - \frac{1}{t}\right) \left[2^{k-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 + (-1)^{n}) \frac{e^{-n^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} - 2^{k-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-n^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 + (-1)^{n}) \frac{e^{-(n/2)^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} \right] dt \\ &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{-t}} - \frac{1}{t}\right) \left[2^{k-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \frac{e^{-n^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \frac{e^{-(n/2)^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} \right] dt \\ &= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{1}{e^{t} - 1} - \frac{1}{t}\right) \left[2^{k-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \frac{e^{-n^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \frac{e^{-(n/2)^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} \right] dt \\ &- \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(2^{k-1} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \frac{e^{-n^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \frac{e^{-(n/2)^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} \right) dt, \end{split}$$

where the last step was simplified using $\frac{1}{1-e^{-t}} = \frac{1}{e^t-1} + 1$. Since $\int_0^\infty e^{-at} dt = \frac{1}{a}$ for a > 0, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{F}_{k,N}(2^N x) - \left(2^{k-1} + 2^{1-k}\right) \mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{x}{2^N}\right) \\ &= -2^{k-1} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{e^t - 1} - \frac{1}{t}\right) \sum_{n=1}^\infty (-1)^n \frac{e^{-n^N x t}}{n^k} \, dt + 2^N \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{e^{2^N y} - 1} - \frac{1}{2^N y}\right) \sum_{n=1}^\infty (-1)^n \frac{e^{-n^N x y}}{n^k} \, dy \\ &- \frac{\left(2^{k-1} - 2^N\right)}{x} \sum_{n=1}^\infty \frac{(-1)^n}{n^{k+N}}, \end{split}$$

where, in the second integral, we employed the change of variable $t = 2^N y$. Since $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n n^{-s} = (2^{1-s} - 1)\zeta(s)$ for Re(s) > 0, we deduce that

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(2^{N}x) - (2^{k-1} + 2^{1-k})\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{x}{2^{N}}\right)
= -\int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{2^{k-1}}{e^{t} - 1} - \frac{2^{N}}{e^{2^{N}t} - 1} - \frac{(2^{k-1} - 1)}{t}\right) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \frac{e^{-n^{N}xt}}{n^{k}} dt
- (2^{N} + 2^{-N} - 2^{k-1} - 2^{1-k}) \frac{\zeta(k+N)}{x}.$$
(3.41)

Making change of variable $e^{-t} = u$ in the integral on the right-hand side of (3.41), using the definitions of $_N \text{Li}_s(t)$ and $J_{k,N}(x)$ given in (2.19) and (2.20) respectively, using the elementary fact $(-1)^{n^N} = (-1)^n$ and simplifying, we arrive at (2.21). This completes the proof.

The next result which gives a relation between an integral with polylogarithm in its integrand and the Vlasenko-Zagier higher Herglotz function, and is analogous to (1.14), was missing in the literature.

Proof of Corollary 2.9. Let N=1 in the Theorem 2.8 and employ (1.11). \square Proof of Corollary 2.10. Let x=1 in Corollary 2.9. This gives

$$\int_{0}^{1} \left(\frac{2^{k-1}}{u-1} - \frac{2u}{u^{2}-1} - \frac{2^{k-1}-1}{u \log u} \right) \operatorname{Li}_{k}(-u) du$$

$$= F_{k}(2) - \left(2^{k-1} + 2^{1-k} \right) F_{k}(1) + F_{k} \left(\frac{1}{2} \right) + \left(2 - 2^{k-1} - 2^{1-k} \right) \left(\zeta'(k) + \zeta(k+1) \right) + \frac{1}{2} \zeta(k+1). \tag{3.42}$$

Now let k > 1 be an odd integer. We first calculate $F_k(1)$. Letting x = 1 in (1.8) and simplifying, we obtain

$$F_k(1) = -\gamma \zeta(k) - \zeta(k+1) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{r=2}^{k-1} (-1)^{r-1} \zeta(r) \zeta(k+1-r).$$
 (3.43)

Also, employing (1.8) again with x = 2 and simplifying, we deduce that

$$F_k\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = -2^{1-k}F_k(2) - 2(1+2^{-k-1})\zeta(k+1) - (1+2^{1-k})\gamma\zeta(k) - 2^{1-k}\sum_{r=2}^{k-1}(-2)^{r-1}\zeta(r)\zeta(k+1-r).$$
(3.44)

Now, substitute (3.43) and (3.44) in (3.42) so as to obtain (2.22) upon simplification.

4. Proofs of transformations and asymptotic expansions of the extended higher Herglotz functions and generalized Lambert series

Proof of Theorem 2.6. The formula [1, p. 259, formula 6.3.18]

$$\psi(x) \sim \log x + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \zeta(1-n)x^{-n},$$

as $x \to \infty$, $|\arg x| < \pi$ implies that

$$\mathcal{F}_{k,N}(x) \sim \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \zeta(1-n)\zeta(k+nN)x^{-n}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2x}\zeta(k+N) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{B_{2n}}{2n}\zeta(k+2nN)x^{-2n},$$
(4.1)

where in the second step we used the facts that $\zeta(-2j)=0$ for $j\in\mathbb{N}$ and [2, p. 266, Theorem 12.16]

$$\zeta(-n) = \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{2}, & \text{if } n = 0, \\ -\frac{B_{n+1}}{n+1}, & \text{if } n \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$
 (4.2)

We now establish (2.14) using (2.2) and (4.1). Upon using (4.1), as $x \to 0$, we have

$$\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N} \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(\left(\frac{e^{-i\pi j}}{x} \right)^{1/N} \right)$$

$$\sim \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\zeta(1-n)\zeta\left(\frac{N+k+n-1}{N}\right)}{\left(\left(\frac{e^{-i\pi j}}{x} \right)^{1/N} \right)^n}$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \zeta(1-n)\zeta\left(\frac{N+k+n-1}{N} \right) x^{n/N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi j(k+n-1)/N}$$

$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \zeta(1-n)\zeta\left(\frac{N+k+n-1}{N} \right) x^{n/N} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi j(k+n-1)/N}. \tag{4.3}$$

From (3.9), we know that if $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{i\pi j(k+n-1)/N} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{m(N+1)}N & \text{if } n=mN-k+1\\ 0 & \text{if } n \neq mN-k+1. \end{cases}$$
(4.4)

Employing (4.4) in (4.3), we see that, as $x \to 0$,

$$\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}'' e^{i\pi j(k-1)/N} \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(\left(\frac{e^{-i\pi j}}{x} \right)^{1/N} \right)$$

$$\sim N \sum_{m \ge \frac{k}{N}}^{\infty} (-1)^{m(N+1)} \zeta(k-mN) \zeta(1+m) x^{m+\frac{1-k}{N}}.$$
(4.5)

Now divide (2.2) by $x^{(1-k)/N}$, then take $x \to 0$ in the resulting identity to obtain (2.14).

Equation (2.15) can be proved by letting k=1 in (4.5) and putting the resulting asymptotic expansion in (2.3).

Proof of Theorem 2.7. From (2.13), it is easy to observe that as $x \to \infty$,

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) \sim \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{n} B_{2n}\zeta(k+2nN) \left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{2n}.$$

To obtain (2.17) as $x \to 0$, we first rewrite (2.5) as,

$$\mathcal{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) + \mathcal{F}_{k,N}\left(-\frac{ix}{2\pi}\right) = -\left\{2\left(\left(\gamma - \log\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)\right)\zeta(k) - N\zeta'(k)\right) + \mathcal{C}(k,N,x)\right\} + \frac{\left(-1\right)^{\frac{k+1}{2}}}{N}\left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{k-1}{N}} \times \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} \exp\left(\frac{i\pi j}{2} - \frac{i\pi(N+k-1)}{2N}\right)\left\{\mathcal{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}}\left(i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) + \mathcal{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}}\left(-i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right)\right\}.$$
(4.6)

Using (4.1), as $x \to 0$,

$$\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {}'' \exp\left(\frac{i\pi j}{2}\right) \left\{ \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(-i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) \right\}$$

$$\sim 2 \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {}'' \exp\left(\frac{i\pi j}{2}\right) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \zeta(1-n)\zeta\left(\frac{k+n+N-1}{N}\right) \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{n}{N}} e^{\frac{-i\pi n j}{2N}} \cos\left(\frac{\pi n}{2}\right)$$

$$= 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \zeta(1-2n)\zeta\left(\frac{k+2n+N-1}{N}\right) \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{2n}{N}} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {}'' \exp\left(\frac{i\pi j}{2} - \frac{i\pi n j}{N}\right),$$

where in the last step the fact that cosine function vanishes for odd values of n. Using (3.9) and (4.2) in the above equation, we arrive at

$$\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} \operatorname{exp}\left(\frac{i\pi j}{2}\right) \left\{ \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}} \left(-i\left(\frac{2\pi}{x}\right)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{2N}}\right) \right\}$$

$$= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{B_{2n}}{n} \zeta\left(\frac{k+2n+N-1}{N}\right) \left(\frac{x}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{2n}{N}} \frac{\sin\left(\frac{\pi N}{2}\right)}{\cos\left(\frac{\pi n}{N}\right)}.$$
(4.7)

Hence employ (4.7) in (4.6) to obtain (2.17).

To obtain (2.18), let k = 1 in (4.7) and then substitute the resultant in Theorem 2.3.

Proof of Theorem 2.11. We need Theorem 2.4 from [9] given below.

Let $0 < a \le 1$, let N be an odd positive integer and $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that $\alpha\beta^N = \pi^{N+1}$. Then for any positive integer m,

$$\alpha^{-\frac{2Nm}{N+1}} \left(\left(a - \frac{1}{2} \right) \zeta(2Nm+1) + \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \frac{B_{2j+1}(a)}{(2j+1)!} \zeta(2Nm+1-2jN) (2^{N}\alpha)^{2j} \right)$$

$$+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2Nm-1} \exp\left(-a(2n)^{N}\alpha\right)}{1 - \exp\left(-(2n)^{N}\alpha\right)}$$

$$= \left(-\beta^{\frac{2N}{N+1}} \right)^{-m} \frac{2^{2m(N-1)}}{N} \left[\frac{(-1)^{m+1} (2\pi)^{2m} B_{2m+1}(a) N\gamma}{(2m+1)!} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(2\pi na)}{n^{2m+1}} \right]$$

$$+ (-1)^{\frac{N+3}{2}} \sum_{j=-\frac{(N-1)}{2}}^{\frac{N-1}{2}} (-1)^{j} \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2m-1} \cos(2\pi na)}{\exp\left((2n)^{\frac{1}{N}} \beta e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) - 1} \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{(-1)^{j+\frac{N+3}{2}}}{2\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sin(2\pi na)}{n^{2m+1}} \left(\psi\left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} (2n)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + \psi\left(\frac{-i\beta}{2\pi} (2n)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) \right) \right\}$$

$$+ (-1)^{m+\frac{N+3}{2}} 2^{2Nm} \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{N+1}{2N} + m \rfloor} \frac{(-1)^{j} B_{2j}(a) B_{N+1+2N(m-j)}}{(2j)!(N+1+2N(m-j))!} \alpha^{\frac{2j}{N+1}} \beta^{N+\frac{2N^{2}(m-j)}{N+1}}.$$

$$(4.8)$$

The main idea is to differentiate both sides of the above identity with respect to a and then let a=1 while using the facts $\frac{d}{da}B_{2j}(a)=2jB_{2j-1}(a),\ B_n(1)=(-1)^nB_n,\ B_{2m}=\frac{2(-1)^{m+1}(2m)!\zeta(2m)}{(2\pi)^{2m}}$ and $\alpha\beta^N=\pi^{N+1}$. Inducting the $\zeta(2Nm+1)$ from the resulting identity in the finite sum on the resulting left-hand side as its j=0 term, we see that

$$\alpha^{-\frac{2Nm}{N+1}} \left[\sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{B_{2j+1}(a)}{(2j+1)!} \zeta(2Nm+1-2jN) (2^N\alpha)^{2j} - 2^N\alpha \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2Nm-1+N}}{\exp((2n)^N\alpha)-1} \right]$$

$$= \left(-\beta^{\frac{2N}{N+1}} \right)^{-m} \frac{2^{2m(N-1)}}{N} \left[2N\gamma\zeta(2m) + \sum_{j=\frac{-(N-1)}{2}}^{\frac{N-1}{2}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2m}} \left(\psi\left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + \psi\left(\frac{-i\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) \right) \right] + 2^{N-1}\alpha^{1-\frac{2Nm}{N+1}}\zeta(2Nm+1-N).$$

The result now follows by dividing both sides of the above equation by $2^N \sqrt{\alpha}$, using the fact $\alpha \beta^N = \pi^{N+1}$ and rearranging the resulting equation.

Proof of Theorem 2.12. Let $0 < a \le 1$ and N be an odd positive integer. Let α , $\beta > 0$ be such that $\alpha\beta = \pi^{N+1}$. Then from [9, Theorem 2.7], we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\exp(-a(2n)^{N}\alpha)}{n(1 - \exp(-(2n)^{N}\alpha))} - \frac{1}{N}(-1)^{\frac{N+3}{2}} \sum_{j=-\frac{(N-1)}{2}}^{\frac{N-1}{2}} (-1)^{j} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(2\pi na)}{n \left(\exp\left((2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}\beta e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) - 1 \right)} \right) \\
+ \frac{(-1)^{j+\frac{N+1}{2}}}{\pi} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sin(2\pi na)}{n} \left\{ \log\left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\left(\psi\left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + \psi\left(\frac{-i\beta}{2\pi}(2n)^{\frac{1}{N}}e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) \right) \right\} \right) \\
= \frac{1}{N} \left((a-1)\log(2\pi) + \log\Gamma(a) \right) + \left(a - \frac{1}{2}\right) \left\{ \frac{(N-1)(\log 2 - \gamma)}{N} + \frac{\log(\alpha/\beta)}{N+1} \right\} \\
+ (-1)^{\frac{N+3}{2}} \sum_{j=0}^{\frac{(N+1)}{2N}} \frac{(-1)^{j}B_{2j}(a)B_{N+1-2Nj}}{(2j)!(N+1-2Nj)!} \alpha^{\frac{2j}{N+1}} \beta^{N-\frac{2N^{2}j}{N+1}}. \tag{4.9}$$

Differentiate both sides of (4.9) with respect to a, let a=1 in the resulting identity, and then divide both sides by $-2^N \alpha$ to arrive at (2.25) upon simplification.

Proof of Theorem 2.13. Using (1.10), we rewrite (2.24) as

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{n^{-2Nm-1+N}}{e^{(2n)^N\alpha} - 1} &= -\frac{1}{2} \zeta(2Nm+1-N) + \frac{(-1)^{m+1} 2^{2m(N-1)} \beta^{N/2}}{N\pi^{\frac{N+1}{2}} 2^N \sqrt{\alpha}} \left(\frac{\beta}{\alpha}\right)^{-\frac{2Nm}{N+1}} \\ &\times \sum_{j=-\frac{(N-1)}{2}}^{\frac{(N-1)}{2}} \left(\mathscr{F}_{2m,\frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{2m,\frac{1}{N}} \left(-\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)\right) + \alpha^{\frac{2Nm}{N+1} - \frac{1}{2}} \mathscr{E}_{N}(m,\alpha,\beta), \end{split}$$

$$(4.10)$$

where $\mathscr{E}_N(m,\alpha,\beta)$ is defined by

$$\mathscr{E}_{N}(m,\alpha,\beta) := \frac{2^{(2m-1)(N-1)}}{N\pi^{\frac{N+1}{2}}} (-1)^{m+1} \beta^{-\frac{2Nm}{N+1} + \frac{N}{2}} \left\{ N\zeta(2m) \left(\gamma + \log \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N} \right) \right) - \zeta'(2m) \right\} + \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{B_{2j} \zeta(2Nm + 1 - 2Nj)}{(2j)!} 2^{N(2j-1)} \alpha^{2j - \frac{2Nm}{N+1} - \frac{1}{2}}.$$

$$(4.11)$$

To study the behavior of the series on the left-hand side of (4.10) as $\alpha \to 0$, we examine the series on the right-hand side of (4.10) as $\beta \to \infty$ using the relation $\alpha \beta^N = \pi^{N+1}$.

We now invoke (2.16) with k=2m, N replaced by 1/N and $x=\beta 2^{1/N}e^{i\pi j/N}$ in the expression below, then replace j by j/2 to see that as $\beta \to \infty$,

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j=-\frac{(N-1)}{2}}^{\frac{(N-1)}{2}} \left(\mathscr{F}_{2m,\frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + \mathscr{F}_{2m,\frac{1}{N}} \left(-\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right)\right) \\ &\sim \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{n+1} \frac{B_{2n}}{n} \zeta \left(2m + \frac{2n}{N}\right) \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N}\right)^{-2n} \sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{N-1} {''e^{-\frac{i\pi nj}{N}}}. \end{split}$$

From (3.9), for $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\sum_{j=-(N-1)}^{(N-1)} {}''e^{-\frac{i\pi nj}{N}} = \begin{cases} N(-1)^{\ell(N-1)} & \text{if } n = \ell N \\ 0 & \text{if } n \neq \ell N. \end{cases}$$

Hence,

$$\sum_{j=-\frac{(N-1)}{2}}^{\frac{(N-1)}{2}} \left(\mathscr{F}_{2m,\frac{1}{N}} \left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}} \right) + \mathscr{F}_{2m,\frac{1}{N}} \left(-\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}} \right) \right)$$

$$\sim N \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{\ell+1} \frac{B_{2\ell N}}{\ell N} \zeta \left(2m + 2\ell \right) \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi} 2^{1/N} \right)^{-2\ell N} . \tag{4.12}$$

Thus from (4.10), (4.11) and (4.12) and the relation $\beta = \frac{\pi^{(N+1)/N}}{\alpha^{1/N}}$, we arrive at (2.26) upon simplification.

To obtain (2.27), simply put
$$N = 1$$
 in (2.26) and simplify.

5. Concluding Remarks

The primary goal of this paper was to obtain functional equations for a new generalization of the Herglotz function, namely $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$. We obtained two different kinds of functional equations relating $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ with $\mathscr{F}_{\frac{N+k-1}{N},\frac{1}{N}}(\xi/x)$, where ξ is some root of unity, the first of which (Theorem 2.1) reduces to Zagier's (1.6) when k=N=1.

(1) Although we were unable to get a three-term functional equation for $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$ similar to (1.6) and (1.9), we have an idea that might help suggest the form of such an equation, if it exists. This is explained below.

Note that when we let x=1 in (1.5) and (1.14), the corresponding Herglotz functions have the same arguments ⁵. Provided this phenomenon persists when we transition from the Herglotz function to the extended higher Herglotz function $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$, the three-term functional relation that is sought might be involving

$$\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x^N)$$
, $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}((1+x)^N)$, and $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}\left(\frac{x^N}{(1+x)^N}\right)$,

for, not only do they reduce to F(x), F(x+1) and $F\left(\frac{x}{x+1}\right)$ respectively when k=N=1 which are the same as the ones occurring in (1.6) but they also reduce to $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(1)$, $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(2^N)$ and $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(2^{-N})$ when we let x=1 which are indeed the same as those occurring in (2.21) for x=1.

Such a three-term functional relation, if/when obtained, would be a first-of-its-kind result since nowhere in the literature has there been a relation which involves like powers (which are greater than 1) of x, x + 1 and x/(x + 1) in the arguments of the associated functions.

(2) Equation (4.8) involves the series, namely,

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\sin(2\pi na)}{n^{2m+1}} \left(\psi\left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} (2n)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) + \psi\left(\frac{-i\beta}{2\pi} (2n)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}}\right) \right),$$

⁵In fact, when we let x=1 in equations (1.5) and (1.14), they exactly match since $J(1)=\frac{1}{2}\log^2(2)$.

which, if we differentiate with respect to a and then let a = 1, leads to the following combination of the extended higher Herglotz functions

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^{2m}} \left(\psi \left(\frac{i\beta}{2\pi} (2n)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}} \right) + \psi \left(\frac{-i\beta}{2\pi} (2n)^{\frac{1}{N}} e^{\frac{i\pi j}{N}} \right) \right).$$

This was, in fact, our motivation to study $\mathscr{F}_{k,N}(x)$.

This suggests a further question - does there exist a transformation for a more general series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\cos(2\pi na)}{n^k} \left(\psi \left(\frac{i\alpha}{2\pi} (2n)^N \right) + \psi \left(\frac{-i\alpha}{2\pi} (2n)^N \right) \right),$$

where $k \geq 1$ and $0 < a \leq 1$. This would then generalize Theorems 2.2 and 2.3 and the general result, if obtained, would be analogous to (4.8) which is the corresponding result in the setting of generalized Lambert series. This would then complete the analogy between extended higher Herglotz functions and generalized Lambert series as specified in Remark 2.2.

- (3) As explained in the introduction, the closed-form evaluation of the integral J(x) in (1.15) is of interest not only from the point of view of analytic number theory but also of algebraic number theory. In the same vein, it would be worthwhile to study for which values of k, N and x can the integral in (2.20) be evaluated in closed-form. In Corollary 2.10, we have evaluated it in an "almost" closed-form since it has the constant $F_k(2)$ in its evaluation.
- (4) Page 220 of Ramanujan's Lost Notebook [28] contains a beautiful modular relation for α, β positive such that $\alpha\beta = 1$, namely, if

$$\phi(x) := \psi(x) + \frac{1}{2x} - \log x,$$

and $\xi(s)$ and $\Xi(t)$ denote Riemann's functions respectively defined by [29, p. 16, Equations (2.1.12), (2.1.14)]

$$\xi(s) := (s-1)\pi^{-\frac{1}{2}s}\Gamma(1+\frac{1}{2}s)\zeta(s),$$

$$\Xi(t) := \xi(\frac{1}{2}+it),$$

then

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{\alpha} \left\{ \frac{\gamma - \log(2\pi\alpha)}{2\alpha} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi(n\alpha) \right\} &= \sqrt{\beta} \left\{ \frac{\gamma - \log(2\pi\beta)}{2\beta} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \phi(n\alpha) \right\} \\ &= -\frac{1}{\pi^{3/2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left| \Xi\left(\frac{t}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{-1 + it}{4}\right) \right|^{2} \frac{\cos\left(\frac{t}{2}\log\alpha\right)}{1 + t^{2}} dt. \end{split}$$

The first equality in this formula seems to be in the realms of the theory of Herglotz function. A proof of it can be found, for example, in [4]. It would be certainly of merit to see if another proof of it could be obtained through the theory of Herglotz function.

(5) While the finite sum in Ramanujan's formula for $\zeta(2m+1)$, that is, (2.8), involves only evenindexed Bernoulli numbers, or, in other words, even zeta values, that in (2.23) involves a product of an even zeta value and an odd zeta value. The remaining case of having products of only odd zeta values in the summand of the finite sum is covered by our Corollary 2.4.

In view of the fact that the finite sum in (2.8) has given rise to a nice theory of Ramanujan polynomials [13], [24], it would be interesting to study the analogous polynomials stemming from (2.9) and (2.23).

(6) Our method for proving Theorem 2.1 limits k to be between 1 and N (N inclusive). Does there exist a functional equation for $F_{k,N}(x)$ where k which are greater than N?

Acknowledgements

The author's research was partially supported by SERB-DST CRG grant CRG/2020/002367. The third author is a postdoctoral fellow funded in part by the same grant. Both sincerely thank SERB-DST for the support. The third author also thanks IIT Gandhinagar for financial support.

References

- [1] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun, eds., Handbook of Mathematical Functions, Dover, New York, 1965.
- [2] T. M. Apostol, *Introduction to Analytic Number Theory*, Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics, New York-Heidelberg, Springer-Verlag, 1976.
- [3] B. C. Berndt, Ramanujan's Notebooks, Part II, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- [4] B. C. Berndt and A. Dixit, A transformation formula involving the Gamma and Riemann zeta functions in Ramanujan's Lost Notebook, The legacy of Alladi Ramakrishnan in the mathematical sciences, K. Alladi, J. Klauder, C. R. Rao, Eds, Springer, New York, 2010, pp. 199–210.
- [5] S. Bettin and J. B. Conrey, Period functions and cotangent sums, Algebra and Number Theory 7 No. 1 (2013), 215–242.
- [6] S. Chowla, Remarks on class-invariants and related topics, in: 1963 Calcutta Math. Soc. Golden Jubilee Commemoration Vol. (1958/59), Part II, Calcutta Math. Soc., Calcutta, 361–372.
- [7] E. T. Copson, Theory of Functions of a Complex Variable, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1935.
- [8] C. Deninger, On the analogue of the formula of Chowla and Selberg for real quadratic fields,
 J. Reine Angew. Math. 351 (1984), 172–191.
- [9] A. Dixit, R. Gupta, R. Kumar and B. Maji, Generalized Lambert series, Raabe's cosine transform and a two-parameter generalization of Ramanujan's formula for $\zeta(2m+1)$, Nagoya Math. J. **239** (2020), 232–293.
- [10] A. Dixit, A. Kesarwani and R. Kumar, A generalized modified Bessel function and explicit transformations of certain Lambert series, submitted for publication https://arxiv.org/pdf/2012.12064.pdf.
- [11] A. Dixit and B. Maji, Generalized Lambert series and arithmetic nature of odd zeta values, Proc. Royal Soc. Edinburgh, Sect. A: Mathematics, 150 Issue 2 (2020), 741–769.
- [12] I. S. Gradshteyn and I. M. Ryzhik, eds., Table of Integrals, Series, and Products, 8th ed., Edited by D. Zwillinger, V. H. Moll, Academic Press, New York, 2015.
- [13] S. Gun, M. R. Murty and P. Rath, Transcendental values of certain Eichler integrals, Bull. London Math. Soc. 43 No. 5 (2011), 939–952.
- [14] J. Hafner and J. Stopple, A heat kernel associated to Ramanujan's tau function, Ramanujan J. 4 (2000), 123–128.
- [15] E. Hecke, Über die Kroneckersche Grenzformel für reelle quadratische Körper und die Klassenzahl relativabelscher Körper, Verhandl. d. Naturforschenden Gesell. i. Basel 28 (1917), 363–372.
- [16] G. Herglotz, Uber die Kroneckersche Grenzformel für reelle, quadratische Körper I, Ber. Verhandl. Sächsischen Akad. Wiss. Leipzig 75 (1923), 3–14.
- [17] M. Ishibashi, Laurent coefficients of the zeta function of an indefinite quadratic form, Acta Arith. 106 No. 1 (2003), 59–71.
- [18] L. Kronecker, Zur Theorie der elliptischen Modulfunktionen, Werke, 4, 347–495 and 5, 1–132. Leipzig: 1929.
- [19] J. Lewis and D. Zagier, Period functions for Maass wave forms. I, Ann. Math. 153, No. 1 (2001), 191–258.
- [20] M. Lukkarinen, The Mellin transform of the square of Riemann's zeta-function and Atkinson's formula, Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. Diss. 140 (2005), Suomalainen Tiedeakatemia, Helsinki.
- [21] R. Masri, The Herglotz-Zagier function, double zeta functions, and values of L-series, J. Number Theory 106 No. 2(2004), 219–237.
- [22] A. McIntyre and L. A. Takhtajan, Holomorphic factorization of determinants of Laplacians on Riemann surfaces and a higher genus generalization of Kronecker's first limit formula, Geom. Funct. Anal. 16 no. 6 (2006), 1291– 1323
- [23] C. Meyer, Die Berechnung der Klassenzahl abelscher Körper über quadratischen Zahlkörpern, Berlin, 1957.
- [24] M. R. Murty, C. Smyth and R. J. Wang, Zeros of Ramanujan polynomials, J. Ramanujan Math.Soc. 26 No. 1 (2011), 107–125.
- [25] H. Muzaffar and K. S. Williams, A restricted Epstein zeta function and the evaluation of some definite integrals, Acta Arith. 104, no. 1 (2001), 23–66.
- [26] D. Radchenko and D. Zagier, Arithmetic properties of the Herglotz Function, submitted for publication, arXiv:2012.15805, https://arxiv.org/abs/2012.15805.
- [27] S. Ramanujan, Notebooks (2 volumes), Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, Bombay, 1957; second ed., 2012.

- [28] S. Ramanujan, The Lost Notebook and Other Unpublished Papers, Narosa, New Delhi, 1988.
- [29] E. C. Titchmarsh, The Theory of the Riemann Zeta Function, 2nd ed., Revised by D. R. Heath-Brown, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1986.
- [30] M. Vlasenko and D. Zagier, Higher Kronecker "limit" formulas for real quadratic fields, J. reine angew. Math. 679, pp. 23–64 (2013).
- [31] E. T. Whittaker and G. N. Watson, A Course of Modern Analysis, Fourth Edition, Cambridge University Press,
- [32] S. Wigert, Sur la série de Lambert et son application à la théorie des nombres, Acta Math. 41 (1916), 197–218.
- [33] S. Wigert, Sur une extension de la série de Lambert, Arkiv Mat. Astron. Fys. 19 (1925), 13 pp.
- [34] S. Wigert, Note sur la série $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e^{-n^k x}$, Tohoku Math. J. **38** (1933), 451–457. [35] D. Zagier, A Kronecker limit formula for real quadratic fields, Math. Ann. **213** (1975), 153–184.
- [36] D. Zagier, The Rankin-Selberg method for automorphic functions which are not of rapid decay, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo IA Math. 28 (1981), 415-437.
- [37] D. Zagier, Quelques conséquences surprenantes de la cohomologie de $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$, Leçons de Mathématiques d'aujourd'hui, Cassini, Paris (2000), 99-123.

DISCIPLINE OF MATHEMATICS, INDIAN INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, GANDHINAGAR, PALAJ, GANDHINAGAR 382355, Gujarat, India

Email address: adixit@iitgn.ac.in; rajat_gupta@iitgn.ac.in; rahul.kumr@iitgn.ac.in